1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 Electronically Filed Sep 08 2017 12:41 p.m. 4 ANGELA DeCHAMBEAU, and Elizabeth A. Brown JEAN-PAUL DeCHAMBEAU 5 Clerk of Supreme Court BOTH INDIVIDUALLY AND AS Case No. 72879 6 SPECIAL ADMINISTRATORS OF THE ESTATE OF NEIL 7 **DeCHAMBEAU** 8 9 Appellant, 10 VS. 11 STEPHEN C. BALKENBUSH, ESQ.,) 12 AND THORNDAL, ARMSTRONG.) 13 DELK, BALKENBUSH and 14 EISINGER, A NEVADA PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,) 15 16 Respondent. 17 An Appeal from the Second Judicial District 18 Court, Judge Patrick Flanagan, Case Number CV12-00571 19 20 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 21 CHARLES R. KOZAK, ESO. 22 KOZAK LUSIANI LAW, LLC 23 Nevada State Bar #11179 24 3100 Mill Street, S

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1)Whether the Trial Court Exceeded its Discretion by Issuing a Scheduling Order Modifying Time for Expert Disclosures Without Motion.
- 2)Whether the Trial Court Exceeded its Discretion by Issuing a Scheduling Order Modifying Time for Expert Disclosures Without Good Cause.
- 3)Whether the Court Erred in Admitting Expert Testimony not Based on Medical Records Pursuant to Hallmark Factors.
- 4)Whether Calkins Expert Testimony Falls Below Expert Standards because it Fails to Present an Alternative Theory.
- 5) Whether the Court Erred in Admitting Calkins' Testimony Without an Expert Report.
- 6)Whether it was an Abuse of Discretion for the Court to Deny Plaintiffs a Rebuttal Expert Witness

2

4 5

6 7

0

10

11 12

13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25

26

27 28

STATEMENT OF CASE

This Court's Pretrial Order, entered April 30, 2012, states that "A continuance of trial does not extend the deadline for completing discovery. A request for an extension of the discovery deadline, if needed, must be included as part of any motion for continuance." A 0023:1-3 @Vol. 1. Defendants did not request a discovery extension or move for continuance. Plaintiffs' counsel sent defense counsel a letter, dated September 4, 2013, stating that they "will object to any experts being called in the trial on behalf of Mr. Stephen Balkenbush or Dr. Smith, other than those designated in your expert witness designation filed June 17, 2013." A 0043 @Vol. 1. The trial court granted Defendants' summary judgment motion on September 24, 2013, which Plaintiffs appealed. A 0057-59 @Vol. 1. On November 24, 2015, the Supreme Court reversed and remanded the matter because a triable issue of fact existed. The order remanded the case "for proceedings consistent" with that order. The order did not remand the case to reopen discovery or to procedurally alter the case from the point when Summary Judgment had been granted. A 0060-64 @Vol. 1. A 0060-64 @Vol. 1. It had been only twenty (20) days until trial when the summary judgment motion was granted; yet, the trial court issued a new Scheduling Order on February 2, 2016, nearly two and a half years after summary judgment in 2013. A 0067-70 @Vol. 1.

Defendants had already made their expert disclosures on June 14, 2013. A 0036-39 @Vol. 1. In the Joint Case Conference Report, the parties "agreed" that the final date for "expert disclosures" would be 120 days prior to trial or June 17, 2013 and discovery would close 90 days prior to trial or July 16, 2013. A 0034:22-24 @Vol. 1. Therefore, discovery had closed two years and four months prior to the Supreme Court Remand on November 24, 2015. No further discovery or disclosure should have been allowed. The case only should have been set and proceeded to trial.

Yet, the District Court made a Scheduling Order to the contrary, without motion from either party and without good cause, stating that initial expert disclosures be made "on or before September 3, 2016" and that all discovery was to be completed by "December 2, 2016." A 0067:26-0068:3 @Vol. 1.

The Scheduling Order was entered Over Plaintiffs' objections and their Motion to Strike, filed November 15, 2016, and despite inconsistencies with its own Pretrial Order, the trial court permitted Defendants to name Calkins as their expert and allowed him to testify at trial. A 0086-0122 @ Vol. 1.The Judgment on Jury Verdict, dated January 25, 2017, states that the jury found no negligence by Dr. Smith in the underlying medical malpractice matter, which was found to negate an element required under Plaintiff's legal malpractice claim. A 0247-48 @ Vol. 2.

2 3

5

6

4

7 8

9

11

12 13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24 25

26

27 28

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs Angela DeChambeau and Jean-Paul DeChambeau brought this suit regarding the death of their husband and father, due to legal malpractice in their underlying medical malpractice suit. Neil DeChambeau, a 57-year-old accountant went into Renown hospital for a coronary ablation procedure to be performed by a cardiologist named Dr. David R. Smith. In this procedure, a wire is inserted in the groin and then electronic impulses are sent to the heart to deaden certain nerves causing an irregular heartbeat. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. During the process Dr. Smith burned a hole in the pericardial sac surrounding the heart. This caused bleeding into the sack which resulted in cardiac arrest. When this happens, the accepted procedure is for the physician to immediately open the chest and place his thumb on the hole blocking further hemorrhage and at the same time insert a needle into the sack to evacuate the blood from the pericardial sac. (periocardiocentesis). However, Dr. Smith froze and did not do this procedure. Instead he ordered an electrocardiogram (the machine was not in the operating room) to observe the heart to see where the perforation had occurred. By the time it was hooked up, at least ten (10) minutes lapsed and Mr. DeChambeau was brain dead. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1.

Mrs. DeChambeau retained Attorney Stephen Balkenbush to represent her in the wrongful death case against Dr. Smith. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. However, Mr.

Balkenbush had no experience as a plaintiff's medical malpractice lawyer, let alone experience in handling a wrongful death claim. He did hire a competent expert, Dr. Morady, one of the foremost authorities and pioneers in the electrophysiology field. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. Dr. Morady practices and teaches at the University of Michigan hospital. Dr. Morady submitted an affidavit stating that Dr. Smith was negligent and suit was filed. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. Dr. Smith was represented by Ed Lemons, probably the most experienced medical malpractice attorneys in Northern Nevada. Virtually no discovery was done by Mr. Balkenbush and trial date was set for July 2010. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1.

When Mr. Balkenbush contacted his expert, Dr. Morady, he had changed his opinions and no longer wished to testify on behalf of Mrs. DeChambeau. Dr. Morady gave no reason for his change in opinion. Mr. Balkenbush summoned Mrs. DeChambeau and her son and advised they dismiss the case. Mrs. DeChambeau and her son followed Mr. Balkenbush's advice and dismissed the case with prejudice on May 5, 2010. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. Mrs. DeChambeau then obtained an opinion from the Kozak Law Firm that Mr. Balkenbush had committed malpractice for many reasons including:

1. Failure to ascertain why Dr. Morady was withdrawing as an expert before advising the client to dismiss the case.

- 2. Failure to obtain another expert and move for a continuance due to the first expert withdrawing.
- 3. Lack of competence in prosecuting the case to a conclusion.
- 4. Failure to keep Dr. Morady informed of developing facts in the case.

Kozak retained Dr. Richard Seifert, head of the electrophysiological department at a Phoenix Hospital. Dr. Seifert opined that Dr. Smith was negligent in not performing a periocardiocentesis immediately after "code blue" in the operating room. Kozak discovered that the anesthesiologist, Dr. Kang's, counsel, Mr. Navrotil, had contacted Mr. Balkenbush on the day before he called Dr. Morady to determine why he was withdrawing as an expert. Mr. Navrotil, informed Balkenbush that Kang observed that Dr. Smith had not commenced the periocardiocentesis immediately, but had waited for the electrocardiogram to be hooked up. Thus, the ten (10) minute delay. Mr. Balkenbush failed to communicate this critical information to Dr. Morady.

Upon learning all this information, Kozak filed suit on behalf of the Plaintiffs on March 12, 2012. A 0001-12 @Vol. 1. On March 28, 2012, Defendants filed their Answer. A 00013-19 @Vol. 1. On April 30, 2012, this Court entered its Pretrial Order. A 00020-26 @Vol. 1. Regarding discovery, the Order states: "A continuance of trial does not extend the deadline for completing discovery. A request for an extension of the discovery deadline, if

 needed, must be included as part of any motion for continuance." A 0023:1-3 @Vol. 1. Case conference occurred on May 9, 2012. On May 29, 2012, an Application for Setting established the trial date of October 14, 2013. A 0027-28 @Vol. 1. August 17, 2012, the parties filed a Joint Case Conference Report. A 0029-35 @Vol. 1. The parties "agreed" that the final date for "expert disclosures" was 120 days prior to trial or June 17, 2013 and discovery would close ninety (90) days prior to trial or July 16, 2013. A 0034:22-24 @Vol. 1.

Then the strangest thing happened. June 14, 2013, Defendants counsel, Piscevich, designated Dr. Morady as her own expert, with four other experts. A 0036-38 @Vol. 1. On July 11, 2013, a Stipulation and Order to Amend Joint Case Conference Report allowed a few depositions of lay witnesses, but there were no other changes to the dates set forth in the Joint Case Conference Report. A 0040-42 @Vol. 1. On August 14, 2013, Defendants filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. A 0044@Vol. 1.

In a letter to Defendants' counsel dated September 4, 2013, Plaintiffs' counsel confirmed: "We will object to any experts being called in the trial on behalf of Mr. Stephen Balkenbush or Dr. Smith, other than those designated in your expert witness designation filed June 17, 2013... The discovery cut off has long passed for any discovery depositions of any other medical experts." A 0043 @Vol. 1.

13

11

14 15

16 17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24 25

26

27

28

On September 3, 2013, Plaintiffs filed their Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment and on September 6, 2013, Defendants filed their Reply. Following oral argument on September 24, 2013, this Court granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. A 0044@Vol. 1. The Court's Order came 20 days before the date set for trial. A 0027-28 @Vol. 1.

Plaintiffs appealed. A 0057-59 @Vol. 1. Ms. Piscevich retired during the appeal process and the Dominic law firm took over the case. Prior to the hearing on the motion for Summary Judgement, Plaintiffs' counsel learned Dr. Morady would not be coming to trial. On November 24, 2015, the Supreme Court entered its Order of Reversal and Remand. A 0060-64 @Vol. 1. The Supreme Court returned the matter "to the district court for proceedings consistent with this order." As noted above, at the time the Summary Judgement motion was granted, the case was 100% ready for trial, including Motions in Limine. No further discovery or motions should have been allowed. A 0027-28 @Vol. 1.

Nowhere in the Order for Reversal and Remand did it state that discovery was re-opened, nor did the Supreme Court's decision altered discovery deadlines. A 0060-64 @Vol. 1. The trial court's April 30, 2012 Pretrial Order specifically stated that a "continuance of trial does not extend the deadline for completing discovery" and a request for such extension must be made by Motion. A 00020-26 @Vol. 1.

Although no such Motion was made, the trial court entered a Scheduling Order on February 2, 2016 that "initial expert disclosures" be made "on or before September 3, 2016" and that all discovery be completed by "December 2, 2016". A 00067:26-68:3 @Vol. 1. The court's Scheduling Order clearly contradicts its Pretrial Order. A 00067:26-68:3 @Vol. 1; A 00020-26 @Vol. 1. Expert disclosures were completed by Defendants on June 14, 2013, thirty-two months prior to the Scheduling Order. A 0036-38 @Vol. 1.

Nonetheless, on September 2, 2016, Defendants submitted a Disclosure identified Fred Morady, M.D., David Smith, M.D., Edward Lemons, Esq., Michael Navratil, Esq., Peter Durney, Esq. and, for the first time, Hugh Calkins, M.D. A 0071-77 @Vol. 1. In a letter dated September 28, 2016, Plaintiffs' counsel addressed the Disclosure: "We are taking the position that this case was fully prepared for trial at the time the Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by the trial judge. The only outstanding matter that needed to be completed was the trial deposition of Dr. Morady. On this point, were Dr. Calkin, Bhandari and Doshi disclosed as experts in this case?" A 0082 @Vol. 1.

In her letter dated October 18, 2016, Dominique Pollara responded that neither Bhandari nor Doshi have been disclosed as experts but Dr. Calkin is being disclosed as an expert pursuant to the September 2, 2016 Disclosure. A 0083 @Vol. 1.

 In his letter dated October 27, 2016, Plaintiffs' counsel Craig Lusiani informed Pollara expert disclosures cut off one hundred (120) days prior to trial on October 14, 2013 pursuant to the Joint Case Conference Report of August 17, 2012. He stated that there was no agreement to extend any discovery since that date and, noted that at a recent Settlement Conference Plaintiffs' position was, and continues to be, that there was no further disclosure of experts possible. A 0084-85 @Vol. 1.

Expert disclosure of Calkin came fifty-four (54) months after filing the Complaint, thirty-nine (39) months after the agreed upon deadline for expert disclosures, thirty-eight (38) months after the deadline for discovery, and ten (10) months after the Supreme Court's Order of Reversal. A 0060-64 @Vol. 1.

The matter proceeded to trial on January 17, 2017. Despite Plaintiffs' Motions in Limine to exclude Dr. Calkins testimony, and despite his failure to submit an expert witness report pursuant to NRS 16.1(A), (B), and (C), Calkins was allowed to testify. A 0086-122 @Vol. 1. Moreover, Calkins presented trial testimony in violation of the requirement in *Daubert* that expert opinions be based on reliable or trustworthy scientific evidence. *Daubert v. Merell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 593-594 (1993).

In response, Plaintiffs called their expert Dr. Siefert in rebuttal to Calkins's testimony. A 0262-0265 @Vol. 2. Plaintiffs anticipate the argument that a rebuttal

witness to Calkins was not designated by the deadline stated in the 2016 Scheduling Order. However, Plaintiffs have challenged and continue to object to the Scheduling Order as an irregularity in the proceedings and an abuse of discretion that prejudiced Plaintiffs and materially affected the outcome of trial.

Dr. Siefert has reviewed Calkins's trial testimony. A 0262-0265 @Vol. 2. Had this Court allowed Plaintiffs to call Dr. Siefert as a rebuttal witness, Dr. Seifert would have testified that Dr. Calkin's testimony was unsupported speculation. A 0262-0265 @Vol. 2. Had Calkins' testimony not gone unchallenged, the jury may have found Dr. Smith to have been negligent in the underlying action, such that the remaining elements of legal malpractice in the instant case could have been tried.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court decision to permit Defendants' late and improper disclosure of Dr. Hugh Calkins as an expert prevented Plaintiffs from having a fair trial. This Court's issuance of a February 2, 2016 Scheduling Order and reopening discovery, and allowing Calkins to testify, was an abuse of discretion. Calkins' testimony was based on his personal opinion and not substantiated by the medical record. Calkins testimony denied Plaintiffs theory of causation, but provided no alternative theory. His testimony was admitted and left unchallenged because Plaintiffs were denied a rebuttal witness.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court Exceeded its Discretion by Issuing a Scheduling Order Modifying Time for Expert Disclosures Without Motion or Good Cause.
 - A. Modification of the Scheduling Order Without Motion Unfairly Rewarded Defendants and Prejudiced Plaintiffs

Nevada courts are required to issue a scheduling order that limits the time to complete discovery. Nev. R. Civ. P. 16(b)(3) "The scheduling order may include: Any other matters appropriate in the circumstances of the case. The order shall issue as soon as practicable but within 60 days after the filing of a case conference report pursuant to Rule 16.1 or an order by the discovery commissioner or the court waiving requirement of a case conference report pursuant to Rule 16.1(f). A schedule shall not be modified except by leave of the judge or a discovery commissioner upon a showing of good cause." Nev. R. Civ. P. 16(b)(5). The Drafter's Note to the 2004 Amendment to Nev. R. Civ. P. 16 notes that the rule follows the federal rules with a few notable exceptions which limit modifications by the trial court as follows:

"Nevada has <u>not adopted</u> paragraph (4) of the federal rule, added in 1993, which provides that the scheduling order may also include "<u>modifications of the times for disclosures</u> under Rules 26(a) [cf. NRCP 16.1(a)] and 26(e)(1) and of the extent of discovery to be permitted." . . .The amended rule conforms to the 1993 amendments, with two exceptions. <u>Omitted federal provisions</u> are paragraph (6), which allows the court to take appropriate action with respect to "the <u>control and scheduling of discovery</u>, including orders affecting disclosures and discovery pursuant to Rule 26. . . Nev. R. Civ. P. 16 (Drafter's Note to the 2004 Amendment) (Emphasis added.)

In Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 357 P.3d 966 (Nev. App. 2015) the court noted where the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure parallel the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, rulings of federal courts interpreting and applying the federal rules are persuasive authority in Nevada Rules. See also Exec. Mgmt., Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins., Co., 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002). Nutton at 970 (Nev. App. 2015). The Nutton court, cited Federal cases to address when modification of a scheduling order for disclosures is within the court's discretion. The Nutton court noted the purpose of NRCP 16(b) is "to offer a measure of certainty in pretrial proceedings, ensuring that at some point both the parties and the pleadings will be fixed." Parker v. Columbia Pictures Indus., 204 F.3d 326, 339-40 (2d Cir.2000) (internal quotation marks omitted). "Disregard of the [scheduling] order would undermine the court's ability to control its docket, disrupt the agreed-upon course of the litigation, and reward the indolent and the cavalier." Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 610 (9th Cir.1992). NRCP 16 was drafted precisely to prevent this from occurring. Id.

Here, when the trial court modified discovery with the scheduling order it removed the measure of certainty in the pretrial proceedings which had been fixed for over two years and four months prior to the Supreme Court Remand on November 24, 2015. Defendants had already made their expert disclosures on June 14, 2013 based on the Joint Case Conference Report. A

0036-38 @Vol. 1. This disclosure was based on the parties' agreements. A 0034:22-24 @Vol. 1. The district court's action resulted in a reward to the Defendants by allowing them the opportunity to name a new expert, who was not properly disclosed pursuant to the prior rulings in this matter. A 00020-26 @Vol. 1. Plaintiffs had already deposed the Defendant's previously disclosed expert

and were moving forward to trial. Objections to the late disclosure were made to the court in the scheduling conference, letters to opposing counsel and in a Motion to Strike, to no avail. A 0082 @Vol. 1, A 0084-85 @Vol. 1 and A 0086-122 @Vol. 1. These efforts took away from trial preparation and prejudiced Plaintiff in presenting their case.

B. Absence of Good Cause Defeats Modification of the Scheduling Order

If Defendants had motioned the court to modify the Scheduling Order, the court would have had to consider whether good cause existed to make the modification. The court's scheduling order 'shall not be modified except upon a showing of good cause." Grochowski v. Phoenix Constr., 318 F.3d 80, 86 (2d Cir.2003) (quoting prior version of FRCP 15(a) and 16(b)). Instead, the Scheduling Order was entered without motion from either party and without good cause." A 00067:26-68:3 @Vol. 1. The absence of a motion does not remove the standard for the trial court to have good cause to made such a modification in its discretion. The Nevada Supreme Court has never defined what constitutes "good

cause" under NRCP 16(b), but NRCP 16(b) is based in relevant part upon Rule 16(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Federal Courts have determined that "properly construed, 'good cause' means that scheduling deadlines cannot be met despite a party's diligent efforts." Street v. Curry Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs, No. CIV 06–0776 JB/KBM, 2008 WL 2397671, at *6 (D.N.M. Jan. 30, 2008) (Browning, J.).

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