IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANGELA DeCHAMBEAU and JEAN-PAUL DeCHAMBEAU, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS SPECIAL ADMINISTRATORS OF THE ESTATE OF NEIL DeCHAMBEAU,

Electronically Filed Nov 07,2017 03:54 p.m. No Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

STEPHEN C. BALKENBUSH, ESQ., AND THORNDAHL, ARMSTRONG, DELK, BALKENBUSH and EISINGER, A NEVADA PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment Second Judicial District Court, County of Washoe The Honorable Patrick Flanagan, District Judge Case No. CV12-00571

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

6

³ This unsupported assertion not only violates NRAP 28(e)(1), but is also untrue, vexatious and irrelevant.

- concerning the facts of the case);
- AOB 13:8 (no reference to support the assertion that "objections to the late disclosure were made to the court at the scheduling conference");
- AOB 17:10 (no reference to support assertion that the designation of Dr. Calkins was "a last ditch attempt at finding a defense expert after they dropped Morady and their summary judgment ruling was overturned.");
- AOB 21:10-15 (only referencing their complaint).

The above-referenced assertions violate NRAP 28(e)(1), which requires every factual assertion to be supported by a reference to the page of the appendix at which the factual matter appears. Accordingly, all factual assertions that are not supported by proper references to the record must be disregarded. NRAP 28(e)(1); *see Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon*, 109 Nev. 990, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993).

IV. SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENT

The district court properly exercised its discretion by determining that Balkenbush timely designated Dr. Calkins as an expert witness because: (1) the designation was made in accordance with the deadlines established by the Scheduling Order; (2) the district court had discretion to issue the Scheduling Order following remand; (3) the DeChambeaus waived any objection to the Scheduling Order; (4) the DeChambeaus were not prejudiced by the issuance of the Scheduling Order or the designation of Dr. Calkins, and; (5) Balkenbush relied on the fact that the Scheduling

Order allowed him to designate an additional expert without having to make a motion.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in connection with the admissibility of Dr. Calkins' testimony. The DeChambeaus waived this argument by failing to interpose any objection at trial based on the reliability, competence or substance of Dr. Calkins' testimony. In addition, the DeChambeaus fail to show that any of Dr. Calkins' testimony was inadmissible.

Dr. Calkins was not required to testify to an alternative theory of causation. Although the DeChambeaus' argument regarding an alternative theory of causation is difficult to parse, it appears that they are contending that all of Dr. Calkins' testimony was inadmissible because he did not opine as to an alternative theory of causation. The DeChambeaus waived this appellate argument because they did not object at trial. In any event, the defense is never required to prove an alternative theory of causation. The only significance of the rules pertaining to an alternative theory of causation is that, when an alternative theory is presented by a medical expert, it must be stated to a reasonable medical certainty in order to be admissible.

Balkenbush was not required to produce an expert witness report as to the opinions of Dr. Calkins because: (1) the parties waived expert witness reports in their joint case conference report: (2) the DeChambeaus did not interpose any objection to the admissibility of Dr. Calkins' testimony at trial; (3) they have not included their

appendix the portions of the record that would be necessary in order for this court to review the issue, and; (4) they have shown no prejudice resulting from the lack of a report.

The district court's decision to deny the DeChambeaus' request to allow them to call a rebuttal witness should be affirmed because: (1) they have failed to include in the appendix any portion of the record where they requested the district court to allow them to introduce the subject rebuttal testimony; (2) they have failed to preserve this issue by showing that they made the requisite offer of proof at trial; (3) they have failed to include in the appendix any portion of the record where the district court ruled on their request; (4) they have failed to show that the purported rebuttal testimony was admissible, and; (5) they have failed to show that the claimed error was not harmless.

V. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Determining that Balkenbush Timely Designated Dr. Calkins as an Expert Witness.

As noted above, this Court issued an Order of Reversal and Remand in this case on November 30, 3015, reversing the order granting summary judgment in favor of Balkenbush. 1 AA 60. The Order of Reversal remanded the case to the district court for further proceedings consistent with the Order. Following remand, the district court held a scheduling conference on January 21, 2016 and set the trial for

January 17, 2017. On February 1, 2016, the district court issued a Scheduling Order setting a September 3, 2016 deadline for disclosing experts. Thereafter, on September 2, 2016, Balkenbush timely designated Dr. Calkins as an additional medical expert.

The DeChambeaus first contend that the District Court abused its discretion by issuing the February 1, 2016 Scheduling Order allowing the parties until September 3, 2016 (approximately 135 days prior to the January 17, 2017 trial date) to make expert disclosures. In particular, they argue that the Scheduling Order resulted in an improper modification of a prior scheduling order, and therefore that Balkenbush should not have been permitted to designate Dr. Calkins as an expert or call him as a witness at trial. However, there are numerous reasons, both procedural and substantive, why the DeChambeaus' argument lacks merit.

As a threshold matter, the DeChambeaus have waived this argument by failing to object to the Scheduling Order in the district court. A party's failure to object to an order of the district court results in a waiver of the objection. *See Landmark Hotel v. Moore*, 104 Nev. 297, 299, 757 P.2d 361, 362 (1988); *see also MGM Grand v. District Court*, 107 Nev. 65, 70, 807 P.2d 201 (1991) (failure to press objection to discovery order waives the claim). The purpose of the requirement that a party object to the action of the trial court at the time it is taken is to allow the trial court to rule intelligently and to give the opposing party the opportunity to respond to the

objection. Landmark, 104 Nev. at 299.

On November 15, 2016, more than seven months after the Scheduling Order was issued, and after Balkenbush had designated Dr. Calkins as an expert, the DeChambeaus filed a motion to strike "Defendents' disclosure of Hugh Calkins, M.D. as an expert witness." 1 AA 86. In that motion, the DeChambeaus argued that Balkenbush's designation was untimely because he did not seek an extension of the discovery deadline established in the August 17, 2012 NRCP 16.1 Joint Case Conference Report. 1 AA 87, 94, 95. However, the motion to strike advanced no specific argument that the district court lacked discretion to enter the February 1, 2016 Scheduling Order or to establish a new cut-off date. As such, the DeChambeaus failed to provide the district court with any persuasive grounds for vacating its Scheduling Order or for striking Balkenbush's designation of Dr. Calkins.

In addition, the DeChambeaus waived any challenge to the Scheduling Order by waiting more than seven months to file their motion to strike. Even if the motion to strike had presented legal authority supporting an objection to the Scheduling Order, it came far to late in the proceedings to allow the trial court to alter the Order without prejudicing Balkenbush. By the time when they filed their motion, Balkenbush had already relied on the Scheduling Order in determining his course of action with respect to retaining and designating a new expert.

The district court's decision on the DeChambeaus' motion to strike is also

unreviewable on appeal because their appendix does not include copies of either Balkenbush's opposition to the motion to strike or the district court's order denying the motion to strike. *See Cuzze v. Cmty*. College Sys., 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131 (2007) (appellant bears the burden of ensuring an accurate and complete record on appeal and missing portions of the record are presumed to support the district court's decision). Since the DeChambeaus have not included copies of the opposition or the district court's order in the record on appeal, there is no decision to review and the order must be presumed to be correct.

The DeChambeaus also indicate (at AOB 9:18) that on December 29, 2016, they filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude Dr. Calkins from testifying at trial. 1 AA 123. However, the motion contains no argument that the district court lacked discretion to enter the Scheduling Order. *See Richmond v. State*, 118 Nev. 924, 932, 59 P.3d 1249 (2002) (a motion in limine only preserves the evidentiary objection for appeal "where [the] objection has been fully briefed, the district court has thoroughly explored the objection during a hearing on a pretrial motion, and the district court has made a definitive ruling."); *Quiana M.B. v. State Dep't. Of Family Servs.*, 128 Nev. 462, 468, 283 P.3d 842 (2012) (objections to the admissibility of evidence must be based on specific grounds). Moreover, the DeChambeaus have failed to include in the record copies of either Balkenbush's opposition to the motion in limine or the district court's order denying the motion in limine. Accordingly, the DeChambeaus

may not rely on the motion in limine as a basis for claiming that they made a proper objection to the Scheduling Order. *See Cuzze*, 123 Nev. at 603.

The DeChambeaus also assert that "objections to the late disclosure were made to the court in the scheduling conference" that was held on January 21, 2016. AOB 13:8. Once again, however, in order for the DeChambeaus to preserve such an objection for appeal, it was incumbent upon them to place their objection and the grounds for their objection on the record and to include the relevant portions of the transcript in their appendix. See Cuzze, 123 Nev. at 603 (missing portions of the record are presumed to support the district court's decision); Allianz Ins., 109 Nev. at 997 (the appellate court need not consider the contentions of an appellant where the appellant's opening brief fails to cite the record on appeal). Accordingly, since there is nothing in the record to support the DeChambeaus' contention that they made an objection to the new discovery cut-off dates at the scheduling conference, it must be presumed that they did not do so or that their objection did not support an alternative ruling.

In any event, with respect to the merits of the DeChambeau's argument, the district court did not abuse its discretion in entering the February 1, 2016 Scheduling Order. The Dechambeaus contend that the Scheduling Order was improper because it modified an existing scheduling order without good cause. AOB 11:5, 14:24. In support of their argument, the DeChambeaus insinuate that the Pretrial Order issued

by the district court on April 30, 2012 constituted a prior scheduling order. However, a pretrial order is not a scheduling order. A pretrial order is governed by NRCP 16(e) and is simply an administrative order that the trial court may issue in order to memorialize the action taken by the court at any pretrial conference. A pretrial order may be modified by the court at any time. NRCP 16(e).

In contrast, a scheduling order is governed by NRCP 16(b) and requires the court to establish deadlines to complete discovery, among other things. Since a Pretrial Order is not a scheduling order, the February 1, 2016 Scheduling Order did not modify a prior scheduling order. Moreover, the Scheduling Order could not have operated to modify the Pretrial Order here because the Pretrial Order did not actually establish any discovery deadlines. 1 AA 20.

The DeChambeaus also attempt to argue that the Scheduling Order improperly modified the parties' August 17, 2012 Joint Case Conference Report, which stated that the final date for expert disclosures would be "One Hundred Twenty (120) days prior to trial of (sic) June 17, 2013." 1 AA 34. However, under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, the cut-off dates set forth in a scheduling order always take precedence over any dates selected by the parties in a case conference report. Under the provisions of NRCP16(b), a scheduling order is entered after the filing of the case conference report and the district court is ultimately responsible for setting the final deadlines for completing discovery. *See* NRCP 16(b)(3). Thus, any cut-off dates

appearing in a case conference report are always subject to revision by the district court in a scheduling order.

Furthermore, it is not clear that the Scheduling Order was inconsistent with the case conference report. It is readily apparent that the report incorrectly referred to June 17, 2013 as the original trial date. The original trial date was actually October 14, 2013. 1 AA 27. As such, it is evident that the word "of" was a typo and the parties meant to say "or." This conclusion is underscored by the wording of the general discovery deadline, which states that the close of discovery would be "Ninety (90) days prior to trial **or** July 16, 2015." (Emphasis added). 1 AA 34. The DeChambeaus acknowledge as much in their Opening Brief. AOB 6:8. In view of the language of the Case Conference Report, the report can reasonably be construed to provide that experts should be disclosed at least 120 days prior to the date of the actual trial. The district court presumably concluded as much when it established similar deadlines in the Scheduling Order.

In any case, the district court had broad discretion to extend the discovery deadlines after the case was remanded by the Nevada Supreme Court. As a general rule, trial courts are afforded wide discretion in controlling the conduct of discovery and their decisions are reversed only where a clear abuse appears. See *Dornbach v. District Court*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 33, 324 P.3d 369, 373 (2014) (recognizing that district courts have "inherent" case-management authority); *Huhn v. Yackly*, 84 Nev.

49, 54, 436 P.2d 215 (1968) ("there is wide discretion in the trial court to control the conduct of pretrial discovery"); *Diversified Capital v. North Las Vegas*, 95 Nev. 15, 23, 590 P.2d 146 (1979); *Francis v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC*, 127 Nev. 657, 666, 262 P.3d 705 (2011) (district court has discretion to reopen discovery). An abuse of discretion only occurs "when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 54, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014).

Notably, even when a party fails to comply with discovery deadlines, the district court has discretion to extend the deadlines when it determines there is "substantial justification" for the party's failure or when the failure is "harmless." *Pizarro-Ortega v. Cervantes-Lopez*, 133 Nev., Adv. Op. 37, 396 P.3d 783, 787(2017) (holding that NRCP 37(c)(1) provides the appropriate analytical framework for district courts to employ in determining the consequences of a party's failure to comply with NRCP 16.1's disclosure requirements). District courts have "considerable discretion in determining whether an untimely disclosure of expert testimony was harmless." David v. Caterpillar, 324 F.3d 851, 857 (7th Cir. 2008). In making that determination, court's should consider: (1) the prejudice or surprise to the party against whom the evidence is offered; (2) the ability of the party to cure the prejudice; (3) the likelihood of disruption to the trial, and; (4) the bad faith or willfulness involved in not disclosing the evidence at an earlier date. *Id.*; see also

United States ex rel. Schumer v. Hughes Aircraft, 63 F.3d 1512, 1526 (9th Cir. 1995) (similar standards apply to the district court's decision to reopen discovery).

Moreover, the harmless error standard applies to all orders entered by the district court. NRCP 61 (Harmless Error). Under Rule 61, "the court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." See also Carr v. Paredes, 2017 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 56, *3, 397 P.3d 215 (Unpublished Decision, Case, No. 61301, Nev. 2017) (harmless error rule applies to the issue of whether error in the admission or exclusion of evidence warrants a new trial). For such error to merit a new trial, the error must affect the party's substantial rights, such that "but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached." See Wyeth v. Rowatt, 126 Nev. 446, 465, 244 P.3d 765 (2010). As the foregoing authorities make clear, a discovery order is not reversible if the district court has properly exercised its discretion in determining that the complaining party would suffer no prejudice as a result of the order.

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